
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO 

 
 
NOEMI RODRIGUEZ ARCE 
 
Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
THE PUERTO RICO OMBUDSMAN 
MANAGEMENT OFFICE; THE PUERTO 
RICO OMBUDSMAN OFFICE FOR 
RETIRED PERSONS AND THE 
ELDERLY 
 
Defendants. 

 
CIVIL NO. ________________ 
 
RE: CIVIL ACTION   
 
Plaintiffs demand trial by jury  

  
 

COMPLAINT   

TO THE HONORABLE COURT: 

COME NOW, plaintiff through the undersigned attorneys, and very respectfully 

state, allege and pray: 

I. Introduction 

1. Plaintiff has initiated the instant action to redress violations of 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000(e) 

et seq and applicable state law committed by Defendants, the Puerto Rico Ombudsman 

Office for Retired Persons and the Elderly (“The Ombudsman Office for the Elderly”), 

represented as prescribed by the Reorganization Plan 1 of June 22, 2011 by the Puerto 

Rico Ombudsman Management Office (“The Ombudsman Office”).  The Ombudsman 

Office for the Elderly, Plaintiff’s current employer, illegally subjected her to severe 

sexual harassment at the hands of her direct supervisor, Wilma Cruz-Calo and Deputy 

Ombudsman, Carmen Ortiz-Calderón.  In order to conceal their actions Cruz-Calo and 

Ortiz-Calderón subjected her to a systematic retaliation process.  Plaintiff was the victim 
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of sexual harassment and retaliation in her employment as an employee of the 

Ombudsman Office for the Elderly, and is consequently entitle to seek remedies in 

virtue of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. §§ 2000(e) et seq) and 

supplemental state claims for sexual harassment (hostile work environment), sex 

discrimination, and retaliation  pursuant to; Act No. 69 of July 6, 1985 (“Act No. 69”), 

P.R. Laws Ann. Tit. 29, § 1321, et seq.; Act No. 17 of April 22, 1989, as amended (“Act 

No. 17”), P.R. Laws Ann. Tit. 29 §155, et seq.; and Act No. 115 of December 20, 1991, 

as amended (“Act No. 115”), P.R. Laws Ann. Tit. 29 §___, et seq. against the 

Ombudsman Office for the Elderly.  Furthermore, Plaintiff is entitle remedies for 

Defendants failure to comply with their obligations under the law and for their actions to 

impose upon plaintiff an arbitrary disciplinary process and measures for the sole reason 

of plaintiff opposition to the sexual harassment committed against her by Cruz-Calo and 

Ortiz-Calderón. 

II. Jurisdiction and Venue 

2. This action is initiated pursuant to 42 U.S. C. §§ 2000(e) et seq, and the Puerto Rico 

sex discrimination, and retaliation law.  This Court may properly maintain personal 

jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants’ contacts with this state and this 

judicial district are sufficient for the exercise of jurisdiction over Defendants to comply 

with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.  The United States District 

Court for the District of Puerto Rico may properly maintain original subject matter 

jurisdiction over the instant action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(4) 

because it arises under the laws of the United States and seeks redress for violations of 

civil rights.  The Court may also maintain supplemental jurisdiction over the state law 
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claims set forth herein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) and Rule 18(a) of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure because they are sufficiently related to the claim(s) within the 

Court’s original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy. 

3. Venue is properly laid in the District of Puerto Rico pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1391(b)(1) and (b)(2), because all Defendants reside in and/or conduct business in this 

judicial district and because a substantial part of the acts and/or omissions giving rise to 

the claims set forth herein occurred in this judicial district.  Plaintiff was working in the 

District of Puerto Rico at the time of the illegal actions set forth herein.  

4. Plaintiff has timely filed a charge for gender (sex) discrimination, Charge No. 16H-

2011-00509 before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), San Juan 

Local Office, on May 17th, 2011.  On March 15th, 2012, Notice of Right to Sue was 

issued, thus administrative procedures have been exhausted and jurisdictional 

requirements have been met. 

III. Parties 

5. Plaintiff, Noemí Rodríguez-Arce (hereinafter, "Rodríguez" or “Plaintiff”), at all 

relevant times herein was, and presently is, a citizen of the United States of America, a 

resident of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and a government employee of the 

Puerto Rico Ombudsman Office for Retired Persons and the Elderly. 

6. The Puerto Rico Ombudsman Management Office, (hereinafter "Puerto Rico 

Ombudsman"), is the central management office for several Ombudsman Offices of the 

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico’s executive branch, including, among others, the Puerto 

Rico Ombudsman Office for Retired Persons and the Elderly, pursuant to the 

Reorganization Plan No. 1 of June 22, 2011.   

Case 3:12-cv-01200-PG   Document 1   Filed 03/21/12   Page 3 of 18



 

 

4 

4 

7. The Puerto Rico Ombudsman Office for Retired Persons and the Elderly (The 

Ombudsman Office for the Elderly), is the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico’s executive 

branch office in charge of overseeing services provided to the elderly and retired 

residents of Puerto Rico pursuant to the Reorganization Plan No. 1 of June 22, 2011, 

and which was previously known as the Puerto Rico Ombudsman Office for the Elderly. 

8. Defendants, INSURANCE COMPANIES “A” through “J”, are insurance companies, 

corporations or entities, incorporated and/or organized under the laws of, and with their 

place of business in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, or incorporated and organized 

under the laws of, and with their principal place of business in a State, other than the 

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico or in a foreign country, which are authorized to conduct, 

as they conduct, the business of insurance, and which, at the time of the occurrence of 

the facts alleged in this complaint, had issued and had in full effect insurance policies, 

respectively, in favor of any or all of the other defendants herein, covering claims such 

as the ones made in this complaint. 

IV. Factual Background 

9. Rodríguez was hired by the Puerto Rico Ombudsman Office for Retired Persons and 

the Elderly, formerly known as the Puerto Rico Ombudsman Office for the Elderly, on 

August 2007, as a Program Coordinator I under the direct supervision of Wilma Cruz-

Calo (hereinafter "Cruz”). 

10. Cruz at all relevant times herein was a Program Supervisor for the Puerto Rico 

Ombudsman Office for Retired Persons and the Elderly, and direct supervisor of the 

Plaintiff who engaged in retaliatory and gender discriminatory conduct, and who 
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sexually harassed Plaintiff by engaging in offensive, unwelcome, retaliatory, severe and 

pervasive conduct, and created intolerable working conditions for the Plaintiff. 

11. On February 2008, Plaintiff began an intimate relationship with her supervisor, Cruz.  

At the time, Cruz was not married, but had had a romantic relationship with Deputy 

Ombudsman Carmen Ortíz-Calderón. 

12. Carmen Ortíz-Calderón (hereinafter “Ortíz”) at all relevant times herein was the 

Deputy Ombudsman for Retired Persons and the Elderly, who engaged in retaliatory 

and gender discriminatory conduct, and who sexually harassed Plaintiff by engaging in 

offensive, unwelcome, retaliatory, severe and pervasive conduct, and created 

intolerable working conditions for the Plaintiff. 

13. From February 2008 to March 2009, Plaintiff’s intimate relationship with Cruz had 

continued in a concealed manner, but at the end of that period, Cruz had publicly 

renewed her intimate romantic relationship with Ortíz. 

14. Cruz intimate relationship with Ortíz moved Plaintiff to end her relationship with Cruz 

on March 2009.  During that period of time, Plaintiff expressed to Cruz her intention to 

end their relationship with her and so she did, to Cruz’s expressed regret. 

15. In reaction to Plaintiff’s decision to breakup with her, Defendant Cruz began a 

systematic sexual harassment and retaliation pattern against her in the workplace.  

Plaintiff began experiencing verbal and physical sexual harassment by Cruz, which 

created a severe and pervasive hostile and sexually charged working environment, 

which caused her psychological and emotional sufferings and damages. 

16. From April 2009 to May 2011, Cruz constant and continuously made sexually 

charged and denigrating comments to Plaintiff.  She would continuously, in weekly and 

Case 3:12-cv-01200-PG   Document 1   Filed 03/21/12   Page 5 of 18



 

 

6 

6 

sometimes in daily basis, make veiled sexual invitations to Plaintiff in order to renew 

their intimate relationship, in spite Plaintiff’s rejections. 

17.  In a constant and continuous manner, from April 2009 to May 2011, Plaintiff would 

be subjected to sexual innuendos, sexually suggestive looks and actions by Cruz, such 

as: staring at her buttocks and bosom; Cruz would intentionally approach Plaintiff from 

behind while sitting on her desk in order to caress, touch, smell and even grab her; and 

Cruz would send her kisses from a distance and even wet her lips while staring at her or 

show her tongue in a sexually suggestive way.  Cruz intentional behavior toward 

Plaintiff created a sexually charged hostile environment that caused Rodríguez 

emotional damages, suffering and anguish.    

18. From April 2009 to May 2011, Plaintiff emphatically rejected such behavior from 

Cruz and requested her to stop this conduct and comments.  During this period of time 

Cruz would also react in a hostile manner to Plaintiff’s rejection of her, thus Cruz would 

continuously mock her and make derogatory comments to Plaintiff in the presence of 

other coworkers, clearly motivated by sexually discriminatory and retaliatory animus.  

Cruz would make derogatory comments in a very aggressive way, such as: “you are a 

pink elephant”; “you never understand me and have a very short memory”; “you are a 

Jalisco”; and “you are a schizophrenic”.  Plaintiff, continuously requested Cruz not to 

treat her that way.   

19. In addition, as part of her retaliatory conduct, Cruz would use her supervisory 

authority to over scrutinize in a discriminatory manner Plaintiff’s job performance, 

adding to the sexually charged hostile work environment to which Rodríguez was being 
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subjected to.  Cruz treatment of Plaintiff was totally different than Cruz’s treatment of the 

other employees that reported to her.    

20. Even though Plaintiff had made all possible efforts to conceal her intimate 

relationship with Cruz, and in particular, to keep it a secret from Deputy Ombudsman 

Ortíz, on or approximately at the end of the year 2010, Ortíz became aware of it, and 

began a pattern of sexual discriminatory acts and retaliatory conduct against Plaintiff at 

the workplace. 

21. From approximately the end of year 2010 to May 2011, Ortíz, would constantly and 

continuously mock and make derogatory comments to Plaintiff in the presence of other 

coworkers and Cruz, motivated by sexually discriminatory and retaliatory animus.  Ortíz 

would make comments to Plaintiff making reference to the secret intimate relationship 

she had with her consensual partner, Cruz.  Ortíz would also address Plaintiff in an 

intimidating and aggressive manner in the workplace, threatening her against the 

possibility of a reconciliation of Plaintiff with Cruz. 

22. As part of Cruz and Ortíz systematic retaliatory conduct against Plaintiff, on January 

2011, Plaintiff received a disciplinary memo signed by Hon. Rossana López-León, 

notifying her of the intention of suspending Plaintiff from her job for a period of thirty (30) 

days. 

23. Hon. Rossana López-León (hereinafter “López”) was the former Puerto Rico 

Ombudsman for the Elderly (currently known as the Puerto Rico Ombudsman for 

Retired Persons and the Elderly) at some relevant times herein the direct supervisor of 

Ortiz-Calderón and Cruz-Calo, who violated Plaintiff’s civil rights by engaging in 

retaliatory and gender discriminatory conduct against her. López failed to protect 
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Plaintiff from the retaliatory and gender discriminatory conduct and participated in the 

concealment of Ortíz-Calderón and Cruz-Calo’s conduct via the implementation of 

discriminatory and retaliatory employment decisions against Plaintiff.   

24. Plaintiff’s job suspension notification, which constitutes an adverse employment 

action, was recommended by Ortíz, with Cruz’s knowledge and consent, absent any 

real basis or justification other than their retaliatory motives against Plaintiff.  Plaintiff 

had never before been admonished or disciplined during her tenure as an employee of 

the Ombudsman Office for the Elderly.  Plaintiff had never been subjected to a 

progressive disciplinary process or job performance improvement plan prior to receiving 

this notification. 

25. López was or should have been aware of the fact that Rodríguez had never been 

admonished or disciplined during her tenure as an employee at the Ombudsman Office 

for the Elderly, and that her job suspension notification was recommended by Ortíz, with 

Cruz’s knowledge and consent, with no other justification but their sex discriminatory 

and retaliatory motives against Plaintiff.  López knew or should have known that the 

disciplinary measures recommended to her by Cruz and Ortíz was arbitrary and 

capricious in nature due to the lack of facts supporting the same.  

26. In light of these circumstances, Plaintiff energetically refused this action and formally 

objected the notification in questioned and requested a formal review of the above 

mentioned disciplinary proceeding. 

27. On or around the last week of March of 2011, during working hours, Cruz called 

Plaintiff into the office file room and asked her to check some file boxes which were 

placed on the floor.  While going through the files on her knees, Cruz intentionally 
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placed herself in front of Plaintiff, assuming a positioning in which her pubic (vaginal) 

area was right in front of Plaintiff’s face, modulating her tone of voice and clearly making 

sexual advance.  While assuming that position, almost simultaneously, Ortíz stormed 

into the file room, and immediately reacted in a very aggressive way ordering Cruz to go 

and meet immediately with her in Ortiz’s office. 

28. With a clear sex discriminatory and retaliatory motive against her, just a couple days 

after the file room incident, Hon. Rossana López, as recommended by Ortíz and with 

Cruz’s knowledge and consent, gave Plaintiff an amended notice of disciplinary action 

indicating this time the agency’s intention to terminate her. López lacked any supporting 

facts and/or substantive evidence before her in order to sustain such dramatic change 

in the disciplinary measure recommended to be imposed upon Plaintiff.  The close 

connection between the facts described in paragraph 27 of the Complaint and the 

sudden and unexplained change in disciplinary measure recommended by López is 

clear evidence of López being in cahoots with Ortíz and Cruz to terminate Plaintiff from 

her employment for retaliatory and discriminatory reasons.    

29. Plaintiff, on May 2011, then filed in the Ombudsman Office a sexual harassment 

complaint against Cruz to no avail.  No adequate mechanisms or protective measures 

were provided to Plaintiff and no investigation was conducted as to her sexual 

harassment complaint. 

30. López failed to comply with her obligations under the laws of Puerto Rico and with 

her inactions violated Plaintiff constitutional rights to be free from sex discrimination in 

the workplace.  Instead, López continued using her authority as manager of the 
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Ombudsman Office for the Elderly to retaliate against Plaintiff by maintaining an 

unjustified and unsubstantiated disciplinary process against Plaintiff. 

31. In addition, on May 2011, Plaintiff also filed a gender (sex) discrimination charge 

against her employer before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), 

San Juan Local Office, Charge No. 16H-2011-00509. 

32. In response to the protected activity of filing her sexual harassment complaint and 

sex discrimination charge, once again Hon. Rossana López, on March 28, 2011, as 

recommended by Ortíz and with Cruz’s knowledge and consent, forced Plaintiff, against 

her will, to take a leave of absence.  This measure was nothing more than an adverse 

employment action with a retaliatory intention by López, Ortíz and Cruz against Plaintiff 

for exercising the protected activity of filing a sexual harassment complaint and trying to 

use the inadequate mechanisms provided by the employer to protect herself. 

33. As a result of this situation and actions, Plaintiff fell into a major depression, suffered 

anxiety and panic attacks, and was hospitalized for a week in a mental health institution 

to treat her delicate emotional and psychological health condition.  In addition, Plaintiff 

has continued medical treatment for the emotional sufferings and damages caused by 

defendant’s agents and employees. 

34. During the summer of 2011, Hon. Rossana López was all of the sudden removed 

from her position and replaced by Hon. Oscar González-Rivera. 

35. Hon. Oscar González-Rivera (hereinafter “González”) is at present, and at some 

relevant times herein,  the Puerto Rico Ombudsman for Retired Persons and the Elderly 

and, currently, is the direct supervisor of Ortíz-Calderón and Cruz-Calo, who violated 

Plaintiff’s civil rights by engaging in retaliatory and gender discriminatory conduct 
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against her.  González failed to protect her from the retaliatory and gender 

discriminatory conduct and participated in the concealment of López, Ortíz-Calderón 

and Cruz-Calo’s conduct via the implementation of discriminatory and retaliatory 

employment decisions against Plaintiff. 

36. Unbelievably so, Hon. Oscar González became aware of Plaintiff’s situation, and 

following the recommendation of Ortíz and Cruz, with a sex discriminatory and 

retaliatory intention refused to call Plaintiff back to work, even though Plaintiff’s leave of 

absence had been the result of nothing more than a blunt retaliatory act against her, for 

trying to protect her rights and herself from a hostile sex discriminatory and retaliatory 

environment caused by López, Ortíz and Cruz.   

37. Since Plaintiff had consumed her regular or vacation leave balance, on August 2011 

Hon. Oscar González had no other choice but allow Plaintiff to return to work, not before 

making the decision, as recommended by Ortíz, with Cruz’s consent, of continuing with 

the unjustified, sex discriminatory and retaliatory disciplinary procedure to terminate 

Plaintiff from her job. 

38. Hon. Oscar González was or should have been aware of the fact that Plaintiff’s 

disciplinary procedure seeking her job termination was initiated by Hon. Rossana López 

and recommended by Ortíz, with Cruz’s knowledge and consent, with no other 

justification but their sex discriminatory and retaliatory motives against Plaintiff.  

39. As a result of Ombudsman González, Ortíz and Cruz discriminatory and retaliatory 

behavior of continuing with the adverse employment action of submitting Plaintiff to the 

disciplinary procedure to terminate her for exercising the protected activity of filing a sex 

harassment complaint and charge, Plaintiff’s delicate emotional and psychological 
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condition worsen, and even suffered a relapse on December 2011.  During that month, 

she was once again hospitalized in a mental health institution to address her serious 

and delicate condition of major depression, anxiety and panic attacks. 

40. Despite all the harm caused to Plaintiff, and after Defendant’s employees completed 

their sex discriminatory and retaliatory disciplinary procedure against her, she was 

disciplined with a thirty (30) days suspension without pay, which was finally notified on 

February 2012.  This measure constitutes an adverse employment action in response to 

Plaintiff’s exercise of the protected activity of filing a sex harassment complaint before 

the agency and the EEOC, which caused and continuous to cause severe emotional 

and psychological damage to Plaintiff. 

41. As result of Defendants’ employees, González, López, Ortíz and Cruz, intentional 

acts, as described above, Plaintiff has suffered excruciating mental anguish, anxiety, 

panic attacks and depression stemming from the sexual harassment, gender 

discrimination, retaliation and hostile working environment to which she has been 

subjected to, and which has required medical treatment, including two seven days 

hospitalizations. 

42. González, López, Ortíz and Cruz had direct knowledge of the pattern of sexual 

harassment perpetrated against Plaintiff; failed to take the appropriate steps to prevent 

such conduct, or try to ameliorate the situation; failed to conduct a prompt and 

reasonable investigation of plaintiff sexual harassment complaint; and on the contrary 

incurred in a systematic retaliatory conduct against Plaintiff. 
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V. Causes of Action 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C §§2000(e) (SEXUAL HARASSMENT) 
AGAINST DEFENDANT OMBUDSMAN OFFICE FOR THE ELDERLY AS 

REPRESENTED BY THE PUERTO RICO OMBUDSMAN OFFICE 
 

43. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full.  

44. The conduct of Defendants’ employees, González, López, Ortíz and Cruz, affected 

the terms, conditions and privileges of Plaintiff’s employment. 

45. The sexual harassment perpetrated upon Plaintiff, as alleged above, was 

unwelcome, and Plaintiff advised González, López, Ortíz and Cruz that this conduct 

was unwelcome. 

46. Harassment perpetrated upon Plaintiff as alleged above was of a sexual nature and 

was sufficiently pervasive and severe to unlawfully create an abusive and hostile work 

environment for the Plaintiff. 

47. González, López, Ortíz and Cruz engaged in the conduct alleged above, while 

acting as agent of the Defendants herein in the scope of and during the course of their 

duties. 

48. González, López, Ortíz and Cruz were fully informed and had sufficient knowledge 

of the material facts and circumstances relevant to the sexual harassment described 

above, and failed to take meaningful measures to prevent further acts of misconduct, 

and acquiesced in, approved and ratified the actions of the harassers, thus Defendants 

are liable for said misconduct. 

49. The conduct alleged above constitutes sexual harassment in violation of the 

Plaintiff’s rights under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, in that they created a 
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hostile work environment.  Therefore, the Ombudsman Office for the Elderly, as 

represented by the Ombudsman Management Office, is liable for all damages suffered 

by Plaintiff.  Thus, Plaintiff is entitled to receive an award for pecuniary losses, and 

emotional pain and sufferings, as set forth herein. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

VIOLATION OF PUERTO RICO ACT 17 (SEXUAL HARASSMENT) 
AGAINST DEFENDANT OMBUDSMAN OFFICE FOR THE ELDERLY AS 

REPRESENTED BY THE PUERTO RICO OMBUDSMAN OFFICE  
 

50. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

51. The conduct of Defendants’ employees, González, López, Ortíz and Cruz affected 

the terms, conditions and privileges of Plaintiffs’ employment. 

52. The sexual harassment perpetrated upon Plaintiff, as alleged above, was 

unwelcome, and Plaintiffs advised Defendants’ employees, González, López, Ortíz and 

Cruz, that this conduct was unwelcome. 

53. The sexual harassment perpetrated upon Plaintiff as alleged above was of a sexual 

nature and was sufficiently pervasive and severe to unlawfully create an abusive and 

hostile work environment for the Plaintiffs. 

54. González, López, Ortíz and Cruz engaged in the conduct alleged above, while 

acting as agent of Defendant Ombudsman Office for the Elderly, in the scope of and 

during the course of their duties. 

55. González, López, Ortíz and Cruz were fully informed and had sufficient knowledge 

of the material facts and circumstances relevant to the sexual harassment described 

above, and failed to take meaningful measures to prevent further acts of misconduct, 

and acquiesced in, approved and ratified the sexual harassment conduct and are 
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therefore liable for said misconduct, which constitutes sexual harassment in violation of 

the Puerto Rico’s Sexual Harassment Statute, Act No. 17, in that they created a hostile 

work environment. 

56. Plaintiff is entitled to receive as damages and just compensation, pursuant to Puerto 

Rico law double the amount of the actual damages suffered by reason of having been 

subjected to sexual harassment, in an amount as set forth herein. 

57. Pursuant to the Puerto Rico’s Sexual Harassment Statute, Act 17, Defendants are 

vicariously liable for all damages suffered by Plaintiff. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

VIOLATION OF PUERTO RICO ACT 69 (GENDER DISCRIMINATION) 
AGAINST DEFENDANT OMBUDSMAN OFFICE FOR THE ELDERLY AS 

REPRESENTED BY THE PUERTO RICO OMBUDSMAN OFFICE  
AND INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS 

 
58. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

59. Defendants have unlawfully discriminated against the Plaintiff with respect to the 

terms, conditions and privileges of her employment, because of her sex (gender), in 

violation of Puerto Rico Act No. 69. 

60. These actions have caused emotional, physical and economic damages to Plaintiff 

recoverable from the defendants estimated in an amount as set forth herein. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C §§2000(e) AND PUERTO RICO ACT 115 (RETALIATION) 
AGAINST DEFENDANT OMBUDSMAN OFFICE FOR THE ELDERLY AS 

REPRESENTED BY THE PUERTO RICO OMBUDSMAN OFFICE 
 

61. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 
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62. Defendants have unlawfully discriminated against the Plaintiff with respect to the 

terms, conditions and privileges of her employment, because of her complaints raised 

against defendants’ conduct before the Office of the Ombudsman for the Elderly and the 

EEOC, in violation of federal and state law, 42 U.S.C. §§2000(e) and Puerto Rico Act 

115, as alleged above. 

63. These actions have caused emotional, physical and economic damages to Plaintiff 

in an amount estimated as set forth herein. 

64. In addition, Plaintiff is entitled to receive as damages and just compensation, 

pursuant to Puerto Rico State Act 115, double the amount of the actual damages 

suffered by reason of having been subjected to retaliation for Plaintiff’s complaints of 

sexual harassment, in an amount as set forth herein. 

VI. Petition for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court enter an order providing the following 

relief: 

65. Defendants are to be permanently enjoined from discriminating or retaliating against 

Plaintiff on any basis forbidden applicable federal and state law; 

66. The Ombudsman Office for the Elderly is to promulgate and adhere to a policy 

prohibiting unlawful gender discrimination and retaliation; 

67. Defendants are to compensate Plaintiff, reimburse Plaintiff, and make Plaintiff whole 

for any and all pay and benefits Plaintiff would have received had it not been for all 

Defendants’ illegal actions, including but not limited to back pay, front pay, salary, pay 

increases, bonuses, insurance, benefits, training, promotions, reinstatement, and 

seniority; 
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68. Plaintiff is to be awarded actual damages, as well as damages for the pain, 

suffering, and humiliation caused by all Defendants’ actions in the following terms: 

a. plaintiff be awarded compensatory damages from all of the Defendants jointly 

and severally in an amount to be determined at trial, but that is estimated not to 

be less than $2,000,000.00, for all damages resulting from sexual harassment 

and discriminatory conduct of Defendants; 

b. plaintiff be awarded compensatory damages from all of the defendants jointly and 

severally in an amount to be determined at trial, but that is estimated not to be 

less than $2,000,000.00, for all Defendants’ retaliatory conduct. 

69. That Plaintiff be awarded pre-judgment and post-judgment interests. 

70. That Plaintiff be accorded other equitable and legal relief as the Court deems just; 

71. That Plaintiff be awarded the costs and expenses of this action and reasonable 

attorney’s fees and as provided by applicable federal and state law; and 

72. That Plaintiff be awarded by the Court the doubling of the damages under Puerto 

Rico Acts No. 17, 69 and 115.  

73. That the Plaintiff be granted any other relief they may be entitled to as a matter of 

law. 

REQUEST FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff hereby makes her request for a jury trial for all claims raised in this 

action. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED.  
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In San Juan, Puerto Rico this 21st day of March, 2012. 

S/ Carlos J. Jimenez-Torres 
CARLOS J. JIMENEZ-TORRES 
cjjt.pr@gmail.com 
USDC-PR 216714 

 
S/ Juan M. Frontera-Suau 
JUAN M. FRONTERA-SUAU 
fronterasuau@hotmail.com 
USDC-PR 214905 

  
UFRET & FRONTERA LAW FIRM, P.S.C. 
239 ARTERIAL HOSTOS AVE., SUITE 305 

        SAN JUAN, PR 00918-1476 
                 PHONE. (787) 250-1420 
        FAX. (787) 763-3286 
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